017 FILED SID J. WHITE **AUG 5 1998**

FLORIDA SUPREME COURT

Case No.: 92,655

CLERK, SUPREME COURT By______ Chief Deputy Clerk

MGR EQUIPMENT CORP., INC. Appellant

Appellant

vs.

WILSON ICE ENTERPRISES, INC., Appellee.

5DCA CASE NO.: 97-00935

APPELLANT'S INITIAL BRIEF

Very respectfully submitted,

ERIC W. LUDWIG, ESQUIRE Eric W. Ludwig, P.A. 705 Douglas Avenue Altamonte Springs, Fl 32714 (407)869-0442 Florida Bar No. 328766 Attorney for Appellant

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS AND THE CASE

APPELLANT, MGR EQUIPMENT COMPANY (MGR), manufactures ice dispensers. APPELLEE, WILSON ICE ENTERPRISES, INC. (WILSON), is an ice-making equipment distributor. MGR sold 11 (eleven) ice dispensers to WILSON and invoiced it \$22,473.55. WILSON did not pay MGR and MGR sued WILSON for goods sold. WILSON answered the complaint and filed a counterclaim seeking damages for allegedly defective goods.

During the underlying litigation WILSON served two separate Offers of Judgment under F.S. §768.79 (1995). Neither offer addressed WILSON's pending counterclaim for damages, nor unambiguously provided for disposition of the ice-dispensers which were the subject of the dispute.

After trial, the Jury returned its verdicts against MGR on its claim and in favor of WILSON on its counterclaim, awarded damages to WILSON, and directed return of the goods to MGR. The Trial Court entered Final Judgment on the Jury's verdicts, which final judgment was affirmed on appeal without opinion. <u>MGR v. Wilson Ice</u>, 700 So.2d 700 (Fla. 5th DCA, 1997).

WILSON applied for attorneys' fees based upon the Offers of Judgment and on March 13, 1997, the Trial Court entered final judgment awarding attorneys' fees to WILSON based upon both Offers of Judgment, from which judgment MGR timely appealed.

On February 13, 1998, the Fifth District Court of Appeal rendered its opinion and held that the first Offer of Judgment was legally insufficient, but that the second Offer of Judgment was valid, expressly disagreeing with the Third District Court of Appeal's decision in <u>Hartford v. Silverman</u>, 689 So.2d 436 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1997), and that the Trial Court was not bound by the Third District's decision. <u>MGR v. Wilson Ice</u>, 706 So.2d 376 (Fla. 5th DCA 1998). MGR timely appealed from the Fifth District's decision. WILSON has not cross appealed the District Court's decision as to the invalidity of the first Offer of Judgment.

٠

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

During the underlying litigation **WILSON** served two separate Offers of Judgment on **MGR**. After the Jury's verdicts in favor of the Defendant/Counter Claimant, **WILSON** sought attorneys fees based upon the two Offers of Judgment.

At the time of the attorneys fees hearing, the Third District Court had decided <u>Hartford v.</u> <u>Silverman</u>, 689 So.2d 346 (Fla. 3rd DCA, 1997). The <u>Hartford</u> decision was squarely on point and, based upon the doctrine of *stare decisis*, required the Trial Court to deny WILSON's application for attorneys fees. Nevertheless, the Trial Court ignored that controlling precedent and awarded attorneys fees to WILSON and MGR appealed.

On appeal, the Fifth District Court ignored the doctrine of *stare decisis*, and the dictates of this Court, failed or refused to direct the Trial Court to follow controlling law, affirmed a finding of liability for attorneys fees, rendered its opinion expressly disagreeing with the Third District's decision in <u>Hartford</u>, and then declined to certify conflict with <u>Hartford</u> to this Court. (<u>MGR v.</u> Wilson Ice, 706 So2d. at 378, 379).

Even if *Hartford* were not controlling, the Third District's decision is correct as the Offers of Judgment were impermissibly vague, and both the Trial Court and the Fifth District Court erred in concluding that WILSON's second Offer of Judgment was valid.

-v-

THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT COMMITTED REVERSIBLE ERROR BY REFUSING TO REQUIRE THE TRIAL COURT TO FOLLOW CONTROLLING PRECEDENT

WILSON was awarded post-judgment attorneys' fees as prevailing party under two Offers of Judgment. MGR respectfully submits that the Trial Court's determination that the Offers of Judgment were valid and that WILSON was entitled to attorneys fees was reversible error, and that the Fifth District Court of Appeal departed from the essential requirements of law and committed reversible error when it ignored the doctrine of *stare decisis*, and the decisions of this Court, and failed or refused to require the Trial Court to follow controlling precedent.

Under the doctrine of *stare decisis*, Courts are obligated to follow controlling precedent. In the absence of a decision by our Supreme Court, Trial Courts are bound by the decisions of the District Courts of Appeal. *Stanfil v. State*, 384 So.2d 141 (Fla. 1980); *Pardo v. State*, 596 So.2d 665 (Fla. 1992); *Scottsdale v. DeSalvo*, 666 So.2d 964 (Fla. 1st DCA 1995); *Special Trading v. Intn'l Consumers*, 679 So.2d 369 (Fla. 4th DCA 1996).

Hartford v. Silverman, 689 So.2d 346 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1997) is the only Florida case which undersigned counsel has been able to locate on the issue of the legal sufficiency of an offer of judgment under **F.S.§768.79 (1995)** where a counterclaim for damages is pending.

At the attorneys fees hearing, the Trial Court made no effort to distinguish <u>Hartford</u> and, after MGR's Counsel argued that the Court was bound by <u>Hartford</u>, Judge Miller replied "I don't think I am." (Hearing Transcript, p. 11) WILSON's counsel could not distinguish <u>Hartford</u>, replying after the Court asked him if he had had an opportunity to review the opinion only that he felt that WILSON had complied with the statute. (Hearing Transcript pps. 8-9).

On appeal, the Fifth District Court found Hartford indistinguishable on its facts (706 So.2d

at 378), and then concluded that it disagreed with the Third District Court.

"... although we are unable to distinguish <u>Hartford</u>, on its facts, we disagree with the Third District's reasoning inasmuch as it ignores the language of the statute" 706 So.2d 378

As a matter of law, the Third District's decision was binding upon the Trial Court which

was not free to decide otherwise. In Stanfil, this Court made it clear that "District Court decisions

represent the law of Florida unless and until they are overturned by this Court "Id. at 143. Yet, even

though it could not distinguish *Hartford*, the Fifth District Court of Appeal did not require the Trial

Court to follow the Third District.

Stare decisis is not a new or novel legal concept. The First District recently stated:

"The trial court correctly concluded that, notwithstanding its reservations about the soundness of [the decision], in the absence of a contrary decision from this court or the supreme court, it was obliged to follow ... We share the trial court's concerns. However unlike it [the trial court] we are at liberty to disagree with the decision of another district court." (Scottsdale Ins., supra at 946);

and the Second District stated:

"A trial court is obligated to follow decisions of other district courts of appeal in this state in the absence of conflicting authority if the appellate court in its own district has not decided the issue." (*Pimm v. Pimm*, 568 So.2d 1299 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1990));

and the Fourth District has stated:

"In reversing, we write to emphasize the rule that all judges in Florida are bound by *stare decisis* to follow any district court of appeal decision on point when their own district has not decided the issue" *Special Trading*, *supra*, at 369;

and in an appeal from the Third District, this Court stated:

"Initially, we note that the district court erred in commenting that decisions of other district courts of appeal were not binding on the trial court. This court has stated that "[t]he decisions of the district courts of appeal represent the law of Florida unless and until they are overruled by this Court." (*Pardo, supra*, at 666).

Only the Fifth District has not addressed this issue, and only in the Fifth District are Trial Courts left free to ignore the dictates of the Supreme Court and to disagree with other district courts of appeal.

.

٠

MGR respectfully submits that all Trial Courts are bound to follow the laws of this State and that this Court must require the Fifth District to enforce the laws of Florida and regulate the Trial Courts within its jurisdiction for the fair, equal, and consistent administration of justice.

THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN HOLDING THE SECOND OFFER OF JUDGMENT VALID

WILSON was awarded post-judgment attorneys' fees as prevailing party under F.S. §768.79 (1995). MGR respectfully submits that even if the Trial Court was not bound by *Hartford*, its determination, and the Fifth District's determination that the second Offer of Judgment was valid, were error.

WILSON's August 26, 1996, Offer of Judgment, partially addressed disposition of the ice dispensers but did not address delivery costs or expenses, and it wholly failed to address WILSON's counterclaim for damages. Because the second Offer of Judgment failed to address the counterclaim, and was ambiguous as to disposition of the 11 ice dispensers, the Offer of Judgment was void, as a matter of law, and could not be the basis for an award of attorneys' fees.

In *Hartford*, Plaintiff sued her insurance carrier seeking substantial damages based upon an alleged breach of an insurance policy by failing to pay for a theft loss and a hurricane claim. Plaintiff also had a claim for bad faith and sought punitive damages. Hartford counterclaimed seeking damages and recission of the insurance contract. Hartford served an offer of judgment in the amount of \$500.00, inclusive of attorneys fees and costs in exchange for a full release in favor of the Defendants. The offer was not accepted, the case went to trial, and the jury returned a verdict in favor of Hartford and against Silverman. Hartford then filed its offer of judgment and moved for attorneys' fees. The Trial Court denied attorneys fees on the basis that the offer of judgment did not address the pending counterclaim and therefore was ambiguous and void, as a matter of law. The Third District Court of Appeal agreed and affirmed the decision of the Trial Court to deny attorneys fees, holding that, as a matter of law, an offer of judgment which did not address a pending

counterclaim was ambiguous and therefore defective and could not support an award of attorneys' fees. <u>Id</u>.

An Offer of Judgment must be strictly construed and the statute must be strictly complied with. <u>Goldy v. Corbett</u>, 692 So.2d 225 (Fla. 5th DCA, 1997); <u>McMullen Oil v. SSS</u>, 698 So.2d 372 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1997). WILSON's second Offer of Judgment failed to address the counterclaim for damages and was silent as to any costs or expenses for "... Return of the 11 ... dispensers to MGR". Can there be any doubt that if MGR had accepted the offer, WILSON would have shipped the goods F.O.B. Orlando, or perhaps, freight collect?

In *Hartford*, the Third District made it clear that the purpose of the Offer of Judgment statute is to bring finality to the litigation. An offer which leaves matters open for argument and interpretation does not satisfy that purpose.

Yet, even after it disagreed with the Third District, the Fifth District Court declined to certify conflict to this court because the Fifth District apparently believed that Fla.R.Civ.P. 1.442 (1997) which became effective after the Offers of Judgment in this case changed the law and would make the issue moot for prospective application. (*MGR II*, *supra* at 378, 379)

MGR respectfully submits that the rule is consistent with <u>*Hartford*</u>, and that it merely clarified existing law at the time the offers of judgment were made by WILSON.

Both Offers of Judgment upon which WILSON relied, and the second Offer of Judgment as to which the Fifth District affirmed liability, left matters unsettled. The Fifth District's opinion ought to be reversed and the Third District's opinion in <u>Hartford</u> confirmed.

CONCLUSION

۰

The doctrine of *stare decisis* is an essential element in predicting the conduct of daily affairs. Citizens have the right to expect that the Courts of this state will follow established law. The Fifth District Court's opinion in this instance sends a dangerous message that Trial Courts are free to ignore controlling law, so long as the Fifth District ultimately agrees with them.

This Court should send its message to the District Courts and to the Trial Courts throughout the State of Florida upholding the doctrine of *stare decisis*, reaffirming the force of controlling law, and also resolve the underlying conflict between the Fifth and Third Districts as to requirements for a valid offer of judgment made prior to the effective date of the amendments to the current rule by reversing the decision of the Fifth District and confirming the Third District's decision in *Hartford*.

Very Respectfully Submitted,

ERIC W. LUDWIG, ESQUIRE Eric W. Ludwig, P.A. 705 Douglas Avenue Altamonte Springs, Fl 32714 (407) 869-0442 Florida Bar No. 328766 Attorney for Appellant