FLORIDA SUPREME COURT

Case No. 92,655

FILED

SID J. WHITE

AUG 21 19981

MGR EQUIPMENT CORP., INC.

Appellant,

CLERK, SUPREME COURT
By
Chief Deputy Clerk

5th DCA Case No. 97-00935

VS.

WILSON ICE ENTERPRISES, INC.

Appellee

APPELLEE'S ANSWER BRIEF

Respectfully Submitted,

LFRED L. FRITH, ESQUIRE

Florida Bar No.: 371688

NANCY E. BRANDT, ESQUIRE

Florida Bar No.: 065102 Bogin, Munns & Munns

250 North Orange Avenue, Eleventh Floor

Orlando, FL 32820

Telephone: 407/425-1814 Facsimile: 407/648-5459 Attorneys for Appellee

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

This position was further clarified by the Fifth District Court of Appeal's decision in MGR Equipment Corp. v. Wilson Ice Enterprises, Inc., 706 So. 2d 376 (Fla. 5th DCA 1998), which recognized that WILSON's Offer of Judgment was consistent with the statute at the time of the accrual of the cause of action. Furthermore, when the trial court assessed attorneys fees, both the statute and cases such as Security Professionals, Inc. v. Segall, 685 So. 2d 1381 (Fla. 4th DCA 1997), existed which were in conflict with Hartford v. Silverman, 689 So. 2d 346 (Fla. 3d DCA 1997).

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT WAS CORRECT IN HOLDING THE OFFER OF JUDGMENT VALID AND DID NOT FAIL TO FOLLOW CONTROLLING PRECEDENT BECAUSE BEFORE JANUARY 1, 1997, AN OFFER OF JUDGMENT INCLUDED ALL CLAIMS UNLESS OTHERWISE SPECIFIED

The offer of judgment statute in effect at the time the underlying cause of action accrued is applicable to this case. This Court has previously held that the statutory scheme of §768.79, upon which the instant Offer of Judgment relies, "attaches the right to attorney's fees to the underlying cause of action." Metropolitan Dade County v. Jones Boatyard, Inc., 611 So. 2d 512 (Fla. 1993). In Metropolitan, this Court specifically held that the offer of judgment statute "does not apply to offers of judgment where the underlying cause of action accrued prior to its effective date." Id. At 513, citing with approval the reasoning of Mudano v. St. Paul Fire & Marine Insurance Co., 543 So. 2d 876 (Fla. 4th DCA 1989).

Undisputedly, the cause of action in the underlying case accrued in 1995. The offer of judgment statute in effect at that time does not mention offers of judgment made by "counter-plaintiffs" or "counter-defendants." The statute merely references "plaintiffs" and "defendants." The statute says that an offer of judgment must do four (4) things:

- (a) be in writing and state that it is made pursuant to this section;
- (b) name the party making it and the party to whom it is being made;

- (c) state with particularity the amount offered to settle a claim for punitive damages, if any; and
- (d) state its total amount.

§768.79, Fla. Stat. (1995). The Offer of Judgment submitted by **WILSON** complied with the statute precisely.

As WILSON met all statutory requirements, the trial judge was correct in finding WILSON entitled to attorneys fees pursuant to its Offer of Judgment. TGI Friday's, Inc. v. Dvorak, 663 So. 2d 606 (Fla. 1995). In Eagleman v. Eagleman, 673 So.2d 946 (Fla. 4th DCA 1996), the Fourth District Court of Appeal succinctly reiterated the law related to a trial judge's responsibilities under §768.79, Florida Statutes. There is a "mandatory right to attorneys' fees, if the statutory prerequisites have been met. Once the statutory prerequisites have been met, the only discretion afforded the trial judge ... is the authority to disallow the attorney fee award when an offer is not made in 'good faith'." Id. at 947 [citing in part, Schmidt v. Fortner, 629 So.2d 1036, 1040 (Fla. 4th DCA 1993)].

More important, the offer of judgment statute goes on to state that "the offer shall be construed as including all damages which may be awarded in a final judgment." §768.79(2). This means that in 1995, an offer by a defendant who has filed a counterclaim included in the offer of judgment a consideration of what could

be recovered in its counterclaim as well as the main claims in the action. A final judgment is a net judgment and the net judgment would resolve all claims in the action.

Two District Courts of Appeal were following this reading of the statute at the time **WILSON** made its Offer of Judgment. The Fifth District Court of Appeal, the trial court's own appellate court, followed this reading in Hellman v. City of Orlando, 610 So.2d 103 (Fla. 5th DCA 1992). The Hellman Court stated unambiguously that "Section 768.79 states that an offer [of judgment] should be construed as included all damages 'which may be awarded in a final judgment'." Id. at 104 (citing §768.79, Fla. Stat., 1995).

It is also noteworthy that the Supreme Court of Florida had made pronouncements, which were in effect at the time WILSON made its Offer of Judgment, that would also indicate that an offer of judgment would include all claims in the action. In <u>Unicare Health Facilities, Inc. v. Mort</u>, 553 So.2d 159 (Fla. 1989), the Supreme Court stated with respect Rule 1.442, Florida Rules of Civil Procedure, which also pertains to offers of judgment, that "the clear intent of the underlying policy of the rule was to determinate <u>all</u> (emphasis added) claims, end disputes, and obviate the need for further intervention of the judicial process." The Court went on to say that "we find the better application of the rules under the circumstances that

Northcraft, 476 So.2d 758 (Fla. 5th DCA 1985). There is an 'organic right of parties to contract a settlement, which by definition (emphasis added) concludes all claims unless the contract of settlement specifies otherwise'." Id. at 161. Indeed, the Fifth District Court of Appeals in Ahmed v. Lane Pontiac-Buick, Inc., 527 So.2d 930 (Fla. 5th DCA 1988), stated that "the crux of the matter is not the basis for the attorney fee claim, or a determination of the 'prevailing party' but rather the organic right of parties to contract a settlement, which by definition concludes all claims unless the contract specifies otherwise." Id. at 931. Therefore, if an offer of judgment is in the nature of a contract and if this Court had stated that by definition an offer concludes all claims, then the Offer of Judgment made by WILSON naturally included all claims if MGR had accepted it.

The Fourth District Court of Appeal, at the time **WILSON** made its Offers of Judgment, also construed the statute as applying to all claims in a pending action. In Adamson v. Nathan Putchat Associates, P.A., 528 So.2d 1259 (Fla. 4th DCA 1988), the court held that no substantive issues survived an accepted offer of judgment even where certain counts had been previously dismissed from the lawsuit. Also, in McCutcheon v. Hertz Corporation, 463 So.2d 1226 (Fla. 4th DCA 1995), a plaintiff sued Hertz for personal injuries incurred in an automobile with a Hertz owned car

driven by Hertz lessee. A physician who treated the plaintiff aggravated the injuries and Hertz filed third party claim for indemnity against the physician. On the morning of trial, Hertz, not the physician, made a \$1.1 million dollar offer of judgment which the plaintiff accepted. Thereafter, the plaintiff attempted to recover directly from the physician whom she had not sued yet for medical malpractice. The Fourth District Court of Appeal held that the offer of judgment included any claims plaintiff had against the physician even though the offer of judgment was made by Hertz to the plaintiff and made no separate reference to third party claim. The court reasoned that the plaintiff "could have rejected the offer and presented the claim to the jury, or she could have offered to accept upon the condition that the judgment would represent compensation only for damages caused by Hertz and its driver, preserving her claim against Stuart (the doctor)." Id. at 1228.

The McCutcheon Court suggests that when a person in good faith attempts to use §768.79, Florida Statutes, to settle a case, it is incumbent upon the party to whom the offer was made to clarify the offer if there is any ambiguity. This reasoning is consistent with the purpose of the statute which is "to encourage litigants to resolve cases early to avoid incurring substantial amounts of court costs and attorneys' fees." Eagleman v. Eagleman, 673 So.2d 946, 947 (Fla. 4th DCA 1996). In filing its two Offers of Judgment, **WILSON** attempted to advance just this purpose. What is ironic

here is that the party which sought to use the offer of judgment statute as it was intended and resolve this case early is the party MGR asks this Court to punish.

WILSON's Offer of Judgment, it could have filed a motion to strike or a motion for clarification.² MGR did not file such a motion for two (2) reasons. First, MGR had no intention of settling this case. Secondly, MGR knew exactly what the Offer meant and did not consider the Offer ambiguous. MGR's conversion to the *church of ambiguity* occurred one (1) week prior to the hearing on attorneys' fees when doing so was perceived to be advantageous.

At the time the Offer of Judgment was made, the Third District Court of Appeal had yet to decide Hartford v. Silverman, 689 So. 2d 346 (Fla. 3d DCA 1997), review denied 707 So. 2d 1124, the case upon which MGR's appeal relies. Thus, at the time of making the Offer, there was no conflict among the various District Courts of Appeal. WILSON and its counsel had to rely upon the plain language of the statute, and case law, including Supreme Court and Fifth District Court of Appeal holdings, which state "an offer should be construed as including all damages which

²The undersigned counsel has been involved in litigation where a party receiving an offer of judgment has filed motions to strike said offers due to perceived procedural irregularities. In such instances, the amount of the offer is not disclosed to the trial court and hearing is held to determine the procedural sufficiency of the offer. It would seem that such an approach would foster early settlement of claims and would be preferred to waiting until after trial to raise such issues.

may be awarded in a final judgment" (Hellman at 104) and "by definition, include all claims unless the offer specifies otherwise." (Ahmed at 931). Under the McCutcheon rationale, if MGR had accepted WILSON's Offer, it would have resolved all claims in the underlying action and a judgment of \$5,000.00 would have been entered against WILSON and WILSON would have returned the ice makers to MGR.

MGR knew this and made no attempt to clarify the offer. Instead, MGR took an adversarial approach, a posture that it has followed since the day MGR shipped the product. MGR sold a defective product to WILSON which was to be installed at Walt Disney World. The machines would not produce ice and produced a loud gun-like sound that was replicated at trial and which frightened hotel guests. WILSON notified MGR immediately of the problem and MGR made assurances that they would rectify the problems. WILSON spent a significant amount of time and money trying to resolve the problem. Finally, WILSON was forced to remove the product and install a different brand of machine which worked beautifully. MGR told WILSON to hold the machines until they could be placed elsewhere. Instead, MGR sued WILSON.

WILSON then tried to resolve the dispute without further litigation by using the offer of judgment statute then in effect. MGR made no attempt to resolve the case and instead chose to litigate. After a jury trial, the trial court entered a Final

Judgment finding that MGR was not entitled to recover on its claims and that WILSON was entitled to recover incidental damages pursuant to its counterclaims. MGR appealed the decision to the Fifth District Court of Appeal, which affirmed the judgment. MGR Equipment Corp. v. Wilson Ice Enterprises, Inc., 700 So. 2d 700 (Fla. 5th DCA 1997). The trial court also properly awarded attorneys' fees to WILSON based upon the Offer of Judgment. MGR appealed the award of attorneys' fees to the Fifth District Court of Appeal, which, in a well-reasoned opinion, affirmed the trial court's award of attorneys fees as to the August 26, 1996, Offer of Judgment. MGR Equipment Corp. v. Wilson Ice Enterprises, Inc., 706 So. 2d 376 (Fla. 5th DCA 1998).

MGR's appeal of the Fifth District Court of Appeal's decision affirming the award of attorneys fees rests upon the argument that Third District Court of Appeal's decision in Hartford v. Silverman, 689 So. 2d 346 (Fla. 4th DCA 1997), somehow voids an offer of judgment that was made in accordance with the applicable statute and case law existing at the time WILSON's Offer of Judgment was made.

MGR's makes two arguments that the Offer of Judgment of August 26, 1996, is invalid. First, MGR argues the failure of the Offer of Judgment to recite the payment of shipping costs upon the return of the ice makers renders the Offer

ambiguous. Second, MGR argues the Offer failed to address WILSON's counterclaim.

MGR asserts in its first argument that the Offer of Judgment is ambiguous because it was silent to costs and expenses for return of the ice makers. MGR's argument on this point fails to consider the plain language of the Offer. In the Offer, WILSON offers "return of the eleven (11) Model DC-44 MGR ice dispensers to MGR EQUIPMENT CORP." (emphasis added). The word "to" is meaningful in this sentence. A simplification of the sentence is that WILSON would return the ice makers to MGR. There is no ambiguity in this sentence.

MGR attempts to violate the plain meaning of the words and read into the sentence a meaning that is just not present. MGR apparently reads "return...to" as possibly meaning WILSON would 'make the ice makers available for pick up', or words to that effect. This is simply not what is stated. Further, as previously stated, if MGR had found ambiguity in the shipping costs, but otherwise found the Offer of Judgment to be acceptable, MGR could have worked toward resolution of the matter by simply asking for clarification on the payment of shipping costs. MGR failed to do so, imprudently rejected the Offer of Judgment, and now attempts to create ambiguity in words that are clear. The benefit of hindsight should not be allowed to defeat a valid, and clear, Offer of Judgment.

MGR's second argument is that the failure to reference WILSON's counterclaims makes the Offer of Judgment "void as a matter of law." This argument fails for two reasons. First, at the time the cause of action accrued, the Offer of Judgment statute had but four requirements which may be summarized as (1) being in writing (2) stating to and from whom the offer is made (3) stating the amount offered to settle punitives, and (4) stating the total amount. As previously stated herein, the Offer of Judgment made on August 26, 1996, strictly complied with the statute.

MGR's argument that WILSON's Offer of Judgment is void as a matter of law also fails because §768.79, Florida Statutes, which provides that an offer should be construed as including all damages "which may be awarded in a final judgment," has to have some meaning. As previously stated, when a case with counterclaims is tried, one net judgment is entered. Suppose, for example, that jury had awarded MGR \$10,000.00 on its complaint and WILSON \$5,000.00 in incidental damages. In that example, a final judgment of \$5,000.00 would have been entered in favor of MGR and WILSON could have kept the defective ice dispensers. When a case is tried where there are counterclaims, a net judgment is entered which is essentially the difference between the amount awarded plaintiff and the defendant/counter-plaintiff.

See, Williams v. Brochu, 578 So.2d 491 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991) (where plaintiff suffered a "net judgment against her") Id. at 493.

It is noteworthy that at the time the Offer of Judgment was made by counsel for WILSON, the Hartford decision had not been decided. All counsel for WILSON had to rely upon was the plain language of the statute and existing case law interpreting the statute to mean that an offer of judgment included all claims unless otherwise specified. Then, on the day of the attorneys' fee hearing, counsel for the Appellant disclosed both to the Court and opposing counsel for the first time the Hartford decision. The Court, obviously aware of existing case law in the Fourth and Fifth District Court of Appeals and the Florida Supreme Court, chose not to follow the Hartford decision because case law existed from the Fifth District Court of Appeal and other jurisdictions which clearly indicates that the trial court could determine that the Offer of Judgment was not ambiguous and included all claims unless otherwise specified. The Fifth District Court of Appeals affirmed this decision, specifically relying on its previous holdings and decisions of the Fourth District Court of Appeals and this Supreme Court.

Furthermore, an appellate decision existed at the time of the attorneys' fee hearing which was in conflict with <u>Hartford</u> which was considered and cited in the Fifth District Court's opinion as being in conflict with <u>Hartford</u>. <u>MGR Equipment</u>

Corp. v. Wilson Ice Enterprises, Inc., 706 So. 2d 376, 378 (Fla. 5th DCA 1998). In Security Professionals, Inc. v. Segall, 685 So.2d 1381 (Fla. 4th DCA 1997), also decided in 1997, the Fourth District Court of Appeal held that an offer of judgment made by certain defendants to certain plaintiffs to settle all pending claims included certain pending counterclaims in the case. The Court in Security Professionals concluded that the Defendant, "Martin Paikin conceded at oral argument, and we agreed (emphasis added) that his individual counterclaim against [Plaintiffs] Sandy Segall and Coastline Communication Corp. did not survive the offer of judgment because both Martin Paikin, individually, as offerer, and Sandy Segall and Coastline Communication Corp., as offerees, were parties to the offer of judgment." Id. at 1384.

Of particular importance here was the court's analysis that an offer of judgment is analogous to a "consent judgment, which is in the nature of contract." The court then concluded that "there is an organic right of parties to contract of settlement, which by definition concludes all claims unless the contract of settlement specifies otherwise concluded." Id. at 1388 [citing, Unicare Health Facilities, Inc. v. Mort, 553 So.2d 159, 161 (Fla. 1989)]; see also, BMW North America v. Krathen, 471 So.2d 585 (Fla. 4th DCA 1985) (a judgment entered after an offer of judgment is accepted

is analogous to a consent judgment which is in the nature of a contract, and should be construed by language employed by the parties if it is without ambiguity).

Following the reasoning in <u>BMW</u>, it was incumbent upon the trial judge in the instant case to determine if there was any ambiguity in the Offer of Judgment, and he obviously determined that there was none. Furthermore, it is clear that under the <u>Security Professionals</u> decision, there was no requirement in August of 1996, that counterclaims be referenced in an offer of judgment.³

The trial court followed the above-cited precedents. The trial court, sitting in Orange County, Florida, is bound to follow the precedent of the Fifth District Court of Appeal. The holding from a sister district court of appeal becomes precedent only if the trial court's own appellate court has made no pronouncement.

³The issues raised on this appeal have now been modified by the adoption of Rule 1.442(c)(2)(B) which now requires that an offer of judgment "identify the claim or claims, the persons attempting to resolve . . ." Unfortunately, this rule did not take effect until January 1, 1997, and was not published in the Florida Law Weekly until October 31, 1996, after the Offers of Judgment had been made pursuant to Sections 768.79, Florida Statutes..

When the Offers of Judgment were made by WILSON in this case, the statute and existing case law interpreted the statute as including all claims unless otherwise specified and the statute itself made no referenced to counterclaims. The court in Security Professionals, lamented the state of the old law when it stated "we regret that this case is just one more example of the offer of judgment statute causing a proliferation of litigation, rather than fostering its primary goal to 'terminate all claims, and disputes, and obviate the need for further intervention of the judicial process.' Unicare Health Facilities, Inc., 553 So.2d at 161. Perhaps the amendments to the Florida Rules of Civil Procedure 1.442, effective January 1, 1997, which require far more detail in settlement proposals will help insure that there are no misunderstandings between an offerer and an offeree about the terms of a settlement proposal." Security Professionals, 685 So.2d at 1384.

MGR argues the only case on point at the time of the trial court's decision was Hartford v. Silverman, 689 So. 2d 346 (Fla. 3d DCA 1997), review denied 707 So. 2d 1124. This is untrue. As set forth above more completely, courts other than the Third District Court of Appeal, including the Fifth District Court of Appeal, had considered the offer of judgment statute. At the time the trial court made its order, in addition to the Hartford case, the trial court had before it Hellman v. City of Orlando, 610 So.2d 103 (Fla. 5th DCA 1992), Unicare Health Facilities, Inc. v. Mort, 553 So.2d 159 (Fla. 1989), Security Professionals, Inc. v. Segall, 685 So.2d 1381 (Fla. 4th DCA 1997), McCutcheon v. Hertz Corporation, 463 So.2d 1226 (Fla. 4th DCA 1995), Ahmed v. Lane Pontiac Buick, Inc., 527 So. 2d 930 (Fla. 5th DCA 1988), and George v. Northcraft, 476 So.2d 758 (Fla. 5th DCA 1985). Certainly, the holding of this Court in Unicare and the holding of the trial court's own District Court of Appeal in Hellman impart greater precedential weight than the holding of Hartford. The trial court did not deviate from stare decisis in finding the holding of its own District Court of Appeal, which holds that an offer of judgment includes all claims, more persuasive than the holding of a sister District Court of Appeal, which impermissibly added an additional statutory prerequisite not found in the statute as enacted at the time.

The Fifth District Court of Appeal expressly found that the trial court was not bound by the Hartford holding. The opinion authored by Judge Orfinger, Senior Judge, states "the statute and court decisions, including one from this court, require that offers be read as encompassing 'all damages which might be awarded in the final judgment." (emphasis added) MGR Equipment Corp. v. Wilson Ice Enterprises, Inc., 706 So. 2d 376, 378 (Fla. 5th DCA 1997), citing Security Professionals and Hellman. Therefore, the Fifth District Court of Appeals confirmed that the trial judge's reading of Hellman bound the trial judge to find the Offer valid. The Fifth District Court of Appeal noted this conflict between its previous holdings and the Third District Court of Appeal, and declined to certify the question to the Supreme Court only because of subsequent amendments to the statute and rule which changed the offer of judgment procedure.

Further, *stare decisis* has less application in the area of procedure than in the area of substantive law. Fields v. Zinman, 394 So. 2d 1133 (Fla.4th DCA 1981). The statute and rules regarding an offer of judgment contain mixed elements of substantive and procedural law, with §768.79, Florida Statute, creating the substantive portion and its identical counterpart, 1.442, Florida Rules of Civil Procedure, creating the procedural aspects. TGI Friday's, Inc. v. Dvorak, 611 So. 2d 606 (Fla. 1995). The entitlement to attorneys fees is a matter of substantive law.

However, the manner of presentation of the offer of judgment is more appropriately considered procedural. As such, the trial court was correct in following enacted procedure rather than taking liberties with that procedure by "torturing the statute" as had the Third District Court of Appeals. The yoke of *stare decisis* was simply not present or binding on trial court in this area of procedure where contrary case law to Hartford existed.

The Fifth District Court of Appeal's opinion herein is correct and should be given the deference it deserves. There were cases in both the Fourth and Fifth District Court of Appeals which had been decided at the time WILSON's Offer of Judgment was made to suggest that the Offer made by WILSON complied exactly with the statute and included all claims, including the counterclaims. All statutory provisions in effect at the time the cause of action accrued were satisfied by the August 26, 1996, Offer of Judgment. As such, the trial court was correct in finding WILSON entitled to recover attorneys' fees upon determining that WILSON's Offer of Judgment met statutory requirements.

For the reasons stated herein, WILSON would respectfully request that this Court affirm the Trial Court's decision below finding that there is no ambiguity in the Offer of Judgment made by WILSON, which was in accordance with the statute at the time of the accrual of the cause of action, and which was in accordance with

existing case law now as it relates to offers of judgment made before January 1, 1997.

II. THIS COURT SHOULD DECLINE TO ACCEPT JURISDICTION

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